STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Jul 29 2022**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LEVY LARKIN BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000485

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred by (1) qualifying Jeremiah Fraser as an expert witness in bloodhound tracking because Fraser did not have the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education to be qualified as an expert witness and (2) admitting dog tracking evidence because the state failed to show the dog used to track had by experience been found reliable and because the trail was contaminated?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 21, 2019, appellant was indicted by a Beaufort County grand jury for armed robbery. R. 317 Appellant was tried April 21-23, 2021 before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury. R. 1. Melissa Duque and Courtney Gibbs represented appellant. R. 1. Jared Shedd, assistant solicitor, and Samantha Molina, assistant solicitor, represented the state. R. 1.

The jury found appellant guilty of armed robbery. R. 307. Judge Mullen sentenced appellant to sixteen years' imprisonment. R. 315.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent "a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice." *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions "either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (quoting *Douglas*, 369 S.C. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair." *State v. Grubbs*, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing *Means v. Gates*, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct.App.2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove "that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing *Means*, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) ("quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). " An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *Id.*; see also *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by (1) qualifying Jeremiah Fraser as an expert witness in bloodhound tracking because Fraser did not have the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education to be qualified as an expert witness and (2) admitting dog tracking evidence because the state failed to show the dog used to track had by experience been found reliable and because the trail was contaminated.

### **Relevant facts**

On July 15, 2018 two masked individuals entered a McDonald's in Beaufort County, one of them held the manager on duty, Susannah Krebs, at gunpoint and ordered her to empty the safe while the other led employees at gunpoint into the walk-in refrigerator. R. 132, l. 11-149, l. 6; 142, l. 15-144, l. 16. After Krebs emptied the safe, she was also led to the walk-in refrigerator and the two individuals fled the scene. R. 144, l. 17-145, l. 5; At least three employees called 911, including Shaquelia Smalls an employee who was outside the McDonald's during the incident. State's exhibit 1, recording of 911 calls.<sup>1</sup>

Officer Mikhail Kopylov was the first to arrive on the scene. R. 82, ll. 4-18. The area where the McDonald's is located is considered a commercial area. There are multiple businesses surrounding and an apartment complex within walking distance. R. 96-97. When Kopylov arrived at the scene he first spoke to Smalls and Timothy Garvin who were standing outside the restaurant. Kopylov cleared the building and began speaking to the employees about the incident. R. 82, l. 22-84, l. 10. The employees described that the intruders were covered head to toe, dressed all in black and had no visible identifying characteristics. R. 92, ll. 2-23.

---

<sup>1</sup> State's exhibit 1, recording of 911 calls, is on file with this Court.

At some point the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department Bloodhound Team was called to the scene to track the suspects that reportedly left on foot. R.157, ll. 6-20. When dog handler, David Tafoya, arrived he said there were already members of both the city police department and county sheriff's office on the perimeter. R. 158, ll. 2-5. Tafoya left the scene, went to the kennels, and returned with Copper, a bloodhound trained to track scent by article or last-known area. R. 158, l. 11-159, l. 4.

Copper was taken to what had been determined to be the last-known location of the suspects where officers had discovered a ten-dollar bill in the McDonald's parking lot. Close to the ten-dollar bill there was a do-rag and a pair of sandals. R. 160, l. 21-161, l. 4. Tafoya gave Copper the tracking command and Copper went towards the do-rag and put his nose to it. Then Copper tracked through a cut-through to the nearby apartment complex. Copper began circling one of the buildings in the apartment complex. R. 162-163. Appellant was standing with Dequan Blue outside on the third story breezeway of that apartment building. Officers spoke to appellant and Blue but ultimately did not arrest them at that time. R. 186, l. 19-187, l. 16.

Defense counsel argued pretrial the dog tracking evidence should not be admitted for three reasons. First, Jeremiah Fraser did not meet the requirements to be qualified as an expert under Rule 702, SCRE. Counsel pointed out that Fraser had only attended a course in 2003 and then another in 2010 and had not completed any other training or certification. R. 30, 19-25. Counsel also argued that Copper was not reliable based on the fact that out of a total of twelve calls he went on he only located two subjects. Additionally, counsel pointed out that in this case the dog did not actually identify appellant who was standing outside and that there are eight apartments in the building that the dog was circling, and it could have been anyone in that building that the dog was alerting to. R. 37-40. Lastly counsel argued that the trail was contaminated. R. 48, ll. 5-19.

In response to defense counsel's motion the state proffered Fraser's testimony pretrial. R. 24-36. Fraser testified that he had been a member of the bloodhound tracking team for the last eighteen years and as the head of the team he participated in training the dogs. R. 24, l. 20-25, l. 9. Fraser testified he attended "the dog training academy in 2003," and the national police bloodhound association in 2010 but did not have a certificate for the 2010 course. R. 26, l. 3-27, l. 22. When asked if he had testified as an expert before Fraser responded, "I want to say twice, but I know once for sure." R. 25, ll. 10-18.

Fraser also testified regarding Copper's reliability. R. 29-30; 31-36; 41-47. Defense counsel asked Fraser questions about specific calls from the time that Copper began until the time of this incident and Fraser testified that Copper began going out on calls in 2017. R. 32, ll. 4-7. The record reflects Copper went on twelve different calls and of those twelve it appears that Copper successfully found two individuals. R. 37, ll. 1-13; 39, ll. 17-23. Fraser claimed Copper had shown to be "generally reliable." R. 29, ll. 5-12. Fraser also testified that finding the individual is not the only measure of success on a track and that it is important that the dog located evidence in some of these tracks. R. 45, l. 21-46, l. 16.

At the conclusion of the pretrial hearing the court qualified Fraser as an expert in bloodhound tracking based on the length of time he had been working with dogs and his training. R. 31, ll. 10-13; 49, ll. 5-13. The court ruled that "the experience shown, by Copper in this case [was] reliable." R. 52, ll. 10-11. Lastly, the court ruled there was no evidence that the trail was contaminated. R. 52, ll. 14-24.

At trial, Fraser explained to the jury how bloodhounds track by scent. Fraser testified that our bodies "are constantly giving up skin cells." The dog is tracking the skins cells that our body

is losing. R. 178, ll. 1-7. When asked if there are factors that affect how many skin cells a person might shed Fraser answered:

Absolutely. Take, for instance, an armed robbery. When somebody has committed an armed robbery, adrenaline is pounding, their breathing is substantially harder. As you breathe, you're kicking out more skin cells, kicking out more scent for that dog to follow. We call that fear scent. So what happens is your body starts expelling more skin cells than it would normally sitting in a calm environment.

R. 178, ll. 15-25.

Fraser claimed that Copper would not have gone up the steps to identify appellant. He explained that it would be unlikely that a dog would go up the stairs, but the dog circling was indication enough. R. 188.

At trial it was revealed that appellant was frequently in the area where the robbery occurred because he worked at the McDonald's and spent time at the nearby apartments. The manager on duty that evening, Susannah Krebs, testified that she was close with appellant and that he was a trainee in the management program. R. 146, ll. 6-9; 147, ll. 3-6; 151, l. 24-151, l. 8; 151, l. 21-152, l. 17. Neither Krebs nor any of the other employees that had worked with appellant recognized either of the suspects to be appellant during the incident. R. 133, l. 22-135, l. 6; 149, l. 13-150, l. 21.

Appellant called two witnesses in his defense. First was Officer John Jambriska who testified that he responded to the scene that day. He testified that when he arrived police were setting up a perimeter and he was sent to the apartment complex. R. 256. Defense Exhibit 2, Jambriska's dash camera video, was admitted during his testimony.<sup>2</sup> The video shows Jambriska stopping his car to approach a car parked in the woods in the area of the perimeter. In the video

---

<sup>2</sup> Defense exhibit 2, Jambriska's dash camera video, is on file with this Court.

Jambriska told the two individuals in the car to move somewhere else. Jambriska claimed that while he could not recall what the description of the suspects was, he knew at the time that the people in the car did not match the description and if they had he would have detained them. R. 258, ll. 10-21.

## **Discussion**

Dog tracking evidence is only reliable (and thus admissible) if all six prongs of *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), are met. The trial court erred when it qualified Fraser as an expert witness in bloodhound tracking because Fraser did not have the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education to be qualified as an expert witness. The trial court erred when it admitted dog tracking evidence because the state failed to show the dog used to track had by experience been found reliable and because the trail was contaminated.

Rule 702, SCRE provides, “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.”

In “executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony.” *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.” *Id.* Next, “the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter.” *Id.* “Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.” *Id.* “If these preliminary requirements are not met, as a matter

of law, the trial court may not permit the jury to consider the evidence.” *Id.* at 456, 699 S.E.2d at 180.

In explaining the “reliability foundational requirement” particular to dog tracking evidence, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the following evidentiary framework in *State v. White*, 382 S.C. at 270, 676 S.E.2d at 687.

[A] sufficient foundation for the admission of dog tracking evidence is established if (1) *the evidence shows the dog handler satisfies the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702*; (2) the evidence shows the dog is of a breed characterized by an acute power of scent; (3) the dog has been trained to follow a trail by scent; (4) *the dog has been found to be reliable*; (5) the dog was placed on the trail where the suspect was known to have been within a reasonable time; and (6) *the trail was not otherwise contaminated.*”

(emphasis added).

Here, the state failed to show that Fraser satisfied the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702, SCRE. *See State v. Harris*, 318 S.C. 178, 456 S.E.2d 433 (Ct.App.1995) (party presenting expert must show witness possesses, either through study or experience, specialized knowledge that makes him better qualified than jury to form opinion on particular subject). While Fraser had worked with the bloodhound tracking team for several years, he had only ever been to two trainings in that time and only received certification from his training in 2003. Additionally, Fraser seemed unsure whether he had been qualified as an expert before stating that he thought he had been qualified two times prior but maybe it was only one time.

The trial court erred finding that Copper was reliable. According to the report used by Fraser during the pretrial hearing at the time of the incident Copper had been working for approximately two years and had only successfully tracked two people out of twelve different incidents. While it is true that Fraser testified that finding a suspect is not the only indication of success it is also true that Copper was an inexperienced dog in especially in comparison to the

situation in *White* where the dog had been on over seven hundred and fifty tracks over the course of seven years. *White* at 271, 676 S.E.2d at 687.

The trial court erred in finding there was no evidence of contamination. The area where this occurred was a commercial area with business and an apartment complex nearby. It was an incredibly high traffic area that was impossible to completely perimeter. The testimony presented by Officer Jambriska at trial demonstrated that there were individuals inside the perimeter after it had been set and those individuals along with others could have contaminated the trail.

Appellant does not contest that he was in the area that day and evening and surveillance video from earlier in the day that proves that appellant was there. Evidence showed that appellant worked at the McDonalds and spent time with individuals that lived in the nearby apartment complex. Accordingly, it would not be unusual for items belonging to him to have been in that area. Petreia Lesene testified at trial that appellant walked with her from the apartments to McDonald's after the robbery, therefore it is unsurprising that his scent would be fresh in that area. R. 112, l. 4-113, l. 22.

These errors were not harmless in this case where all the evidence linking appellant to the robbery was circumstantial. The improperly admitted evidence went directly to the issue before the jury: whether appellant was the person who robbed the McDonald's. *See State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 393, 728 S.E.2d 468, 477 (2012) (Pleicones, J., dissenting) ("Improper 'expert' evidence which goes to the heart of the case is not harmless").

**CONCLUSION**

By reason of the foregoing argument, appellant requests this Court reverse his conviction and remand his case for a new trial.

  
\_\_\_\_\_  
Sarah E. Shipe  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

This 29<sup>th</sup> day of July, 2022.