RECEIVED

Aug 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LEVY LARKIN BROWN,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000485

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

I. McDUFFIE STONE
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in finding the bloodhound tracking testimony reliable because both Copper – the bloodhound who successfully tracked in the past – and his handler – with eighteen years’ experience – were reliable and the foundational requirements for admission were fulfilled. Appellant conceded at trial that the trail was not contaminated.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting bloodhound tracking evidence because the trainer did not take enough classes, ignoring the trainer’s eighteen years’ of experience, and because Copper, the bloodhound was not shown to be reliable. Copper’s experience demonstrated he is able to smell an item with a person’s fresh scent and reliably follow that scent to evidence, to where the scent leaves the trail, or even under the right conditions, the person themselves. Other arguments Appellant presents were not made to the trial court or were even conceded. The trial court did not err and evidence was overwhelming, so any error was harmless.

In camera testimony and trial court’s ruling that the foundational requirements were met.

The State, in response to Appellant’s motion, presented Master Sergeant Fraser of the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Office. Sergeant Fraser manages the bloodhound tracking team since 2010, and been a member for eighteen years. R. p. 24. He participated in training all the team’s bloodhounds during that time frame. Sergeant Fraser testified as an expert once, perhaps twice. R. p. 25. Sergeant Fraser attended training schools twice, in 2003, and an additional 40 hour training in 2010. Additionally, Sergeant Fraser testified, “We train every week.” R. p. 26.

Copper, the bloodhound who tracked to the building where Appellant and his accomplice were located, is trained to work from a specific article and also from a last-known scent. R. p. 28. Sergeant Fraser explained: “For our purposes, dogs can track from a last-known scent where a

known person has gone. Copper is trained in that way. As long as that area has been uncontaminated, the dog will follow the freshest scent from that spot to where he tracks to.” R. p. 28, lines 18-22.

Typically, Copper is trained weekly. R. p. 29. When asked if Copper was “shown to be generally reliable,” Sergeant Fraser answered affirmatively. R. p. 29, lines 11-12. When asked by the trial court, Sergeant Fraser agreed the science of dog tracking is pretty much the same as it was in 2003 when Sergeant Fraser was first trained. The trial court found Sergeant Fraser qualified as an expert in bloodhound tracking. R. pp. 30-31.

Examination turned to the topic of Copper’s experience. In January 2017, Copper attempted to track a runaway. Copper tracked to a backyard of an abandoned property, circled back to the porch, searched the property, and did not find anyone. He was unable to find a scent at other locations (the article used for the scent was a pillow). R. pp. 32-33.

In May, 2017, Copper was called for another track. He was used for a last-known location of a person, which relies on an air scent. It appears from the testimony that Copper did not find the person because he never left his house. R. pp. 33-34.

In August 2017, Copper successfully found a person when presented with clothing. He tracked through a wooded area, around some vehicles and to a shed. Then he tracked towards a residence and eventually found the person the police were looking for. R. pp. 35-37.

Copper did not find anyone for a track on July 15, 2018. R. pp. 36-37. In another track following an armed robbery, Copper tracked to an intersection. R. p. 41, lines 5-13. In another track following an armed robbery, Copper did not find the suspect but did locate evidence along the way. R. p. 41, line 14 – line 24.

On September 5 (year not specified), Copper found one of the suspects. The track concluded with the suspect coming out of the woods. Evidence was found along the way. Copper was not alone, but working with another dog. Sergeant Fraser explained the dogs are loud and talk to each other, which prompts the suspects to keep moving. A perimeter is established helping to keep the suspects from escaping. R. p. 42, line 12 – p. 43, line 7.

At one point, the Court asked defense counsel if Copper's failure to find anyone is a failure to do his job or meant he was inconsistent, and defense counsel admitted he was not saying that means Copper was not consistent, but claimed he was saying Copper was not reliable. R. p. 38, lines 15-24. By defense counsel's measure, Copper was successful in two out of twelve tracks. R. p. 39. However, Sergeant Fraser explained the fallacy in defense counsel's reasoning:

What I think is important to notice and what isn't being brought out is that in most of these, the dog is tracking to an intersect [sic]. What we run into now is cell phones, things like that. We often track places where somebody has a ride waiting. They call somebody to come and pick them up. A lot of times, the dog doesn't end in the woods where nothing is there.

Generally speaking, these crimes didn't happen in a preplanned manner. So generally we will find evidence along the way. We will find shoe impressions. Evidence can be any number of things. Shoe impressions. . . .

R. p. 41, line 25 – p. 42, line 10.

Sergeant Fraser explained another important aspect of the tracks:

We strike the dog, but not necessarily to find them. If they do decide to lay down, we will find them. But most of the time, they try to get out of the perimeter. They will see a patrol car with blue lights on and move. They eventually find a place they can cross a river and get out of the perimeter and get out.

This case [the robbery with three suspects] is a good example of that. There were three suspects. What happened is that one of them got out, I think, and they caught them across 170 and 280. So there was a successful dog catch in this case.

R. p. 43, lines 8-17.

Sergeant Fraser explained bloodhounds are law enforcement tools relied on “to get us through places where there is evidence.” R. p. 46, lines 1-4. He further testified: “In other words, where there is not a shoe impression, not a dropped item. There is not direct evidence that somebody just ran through broken sticks, overturned leaves. That is what the bloodhound is for. It gets us from Point A to Point B when there is no evidence. We confirm where the bloodhound is working through that evidence.” R. p. 46, lines 3-10. Sergeant Fraser further explained an arrest is not “based on what the dog has done. There is other evidence involved.” R. p. 46, lines 11-16.

On December 13 (year not specified), Copper tracked in search of a woman who left a care facility. R. p. 43, line 22- p. 44, line 1. Sergeant Fraser explained:

The dog in this case tracked from Alia to Highway 17 and was tracking towards Charleston on 17. This woman had gotten a ride on Highway 17. The guy who picked her up could tell that something wasn't right with her, so he took her to the hospital. If the dog was tracking towards Charleston, it would have been a long ride. But she had gotten a ride on Highway 17.

R. p. 44, lines 5-14. Unless Appellant seriously contends that it would have been successful only if Copper caught up to the car, this clearly should count as a successful, or at least accurate, track.

On January 19, 2018, Copper was tracking armed robbery suspects. He tracked down Spanish Moss Trail to Ribaut Road. This is a location with a parking lot for people accessing the trail. Copper was brought to another area where he did not pick up any further trail. R. pp. 44-45.

In the instant case, the prosecutor explained Copper tracked to several items on the path, including to a head scarf with Appellant's DNA on it. R. p. 40, lines 10-17.

The trial court then ruled as follows:

I think we all have agreed in looking at this that the State v. White case sets out and talks about the six different factors to look at. I can tell you that at this point, I think the evidence has shown that the dog handler, Mr. Fraser, satisfies the qualifications as an expert under Rule 702. I will note your objection, Ms. Duque.

He has been doing this for 18 years. He has testified since 2003. He is one of six dog handlers here in Beaufort County. I think he has the qualifications, certainly, and the expertise and experience to meet the requirements of Number 1. As far as the evidence shows, the dog is characterized by acute power of smell. I think obviously a full bloodhound has no question a very keen sense of smell. It's used for that exact purpose. I think Copper in this case meets that requirement.

The dog has been trained to follow a trail. Sergeant Fraser tells us that they train the dog and they train them every week on Wednesdays, it sounds like. So I think that section has been met.

R. p. 49, lines 1-21.

The trial court then asked for argument on Copper's reliability. Appellant's counsel argued Copper was successful in only two out of twelve cases. The prosecutor rightly noted that depends on what counts as success. Success includes tracking to where the person got in a car or cases where items of evidence are found. R. pp. 49-52. The trial court agreed with the prosecution and found Copper was shown by experience to be reliable. R. p. 52, lines 10-11.

The trial court noted, without disagreement, that Copper, shortly after the robbery, was placed on the trail the suspect was known to flee, and defense counsel agreed with the trial court no evidence was presented that the trail was contaminated. R. p. 52, lines 12-18. The trial court further noted several items with Appellant's DNA were found on the trail by Copper. R. p. 52, lines 19-24.

The judge concluded that at that point in time, the trial court would allow the dog-tracking evidence, but the trial court would need to hear the evidence in full during trial. R. p. 53, lines 1-

11.

How to establish a sufficient foundation for admission of dog tracking evidence.

“[A] sufficient foundation for the admission of dog tracking evidence is established if (1) the evidence shows the dog handler satisfies the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702; (2) the evidence shows the dog is of a breed characterized by an acute power of scent; (3) the dog has been trained to follow a trail by scent; (4) by experience the dog is found to be reliable; (5) the dog was placed on the trail where the suspect was known to have been within a reasonable time; and (6) the trail was not otherwise contaminated.” State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 272, 676 S.E.2d 684, 687 (2009).

(1) Sergeant Fraser was qualified based on training and experience (18 years).

First, Appellant argues Sergeant Fraser did not possess the necessary expertise to be qualified under Rule 702, SCRE. This is a weak start for Appellant because, for instance, Appellant overlooks Sergeant Fraser’s experience. Under Rule 702, SCRE:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Before admitting expert testimony, the trial judge must find: (1) the expert’s testimony will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert has the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education; and (3) the testimony is reliable. State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 514, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011).

“Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject

matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). “A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009).

Appellant’s argument – based on education – is too narrow in focus: “[T]here are a variety of ways in which a person can become skilled or knowledgeable in a field that their opinion in a scientific, technical, or specialized area can assist the trier of fact in determining a fact or in understanding the evidence.” Fields v. J.Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008) (“[A] trial court’s decision to refuse to qualify a person as an expert based solely on the failure to meet a licensing requirement arguably impairs the truth-seeking function of courts”).

In Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 369 S.E.2d 846 (Ct. App. 1988), Prior contended the circuit court erred in qualifying two social workers as experts to testify on a victim’s mental condition. However, the Court of Appeals observed: “A witness may be competent to testify as an expert although the witness acquired his or her knowledge **through practical experience** and not by scientific study, training, or research.” Id. at 530, 369 S.E.2d at 849 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals found each social worker was qualified based on their education, post-graduate training, and clinical experience with victims of sexual assault, as well as their opportunities to observe the victim. Id. at 531, 369 S.E.2d at 849.

Appellant neglects to mention that Sergeant Fraser, the bloodhound team’s leader, at the time of trial had eighteen years’ experience with bloodhound tracking and trains weekly with his team. By ignoring these facts, Appellant also fails to argue how the trial court’s ruling is not

supported by evidence. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

(2) Bloodhounds excel in their sense of smell.

The trial court found obvious that bloodhounds are a breed characterized by acute powers of smell. Appellant's counsel did not disagree. The Criminal Court of Appeals of Oklahoma concluded in depth analysis with the observation, "It may be here stated that in all of the cases above cited it is the unanimous statement of all the trainers of bloodhounds that when they are placed upon individual trail that they will never quit that trail until they are called off, and again put upon some other trail. They will trail where many persons have been and other tracks made, but they will not leave the tracks of the party whose trail they are following." Buck v. State, 138 P.2d 115, 121 (Okla. Crim. App. 1943).

(3)(4) Copper was trained to follow scent and is reliable.

Appellant continues trial counsel's contention that Copper was only successful on two out of twelve tracks. In one of the "unsuccessful" tracks, Copper tracked a patient from a care facility to Highway 17 where she was picked up by a driver. This uncovers the absurdity of Appellant's argument on this point. As Sergeant Fraser explained, a bloodhound is an investigative tool that takes investigators from one point to another. In a few of the examples, Copper found evidence rather than the person. Those results show Copper is reliable. In the instant case, while a jury is free to believe Appellant's claim that people commonly discard their clothing items on trails leading from their place of employment, it certainly is an indication of his reliability that Copper tracked to a head scarf with Appellant's DNA on the path leading to the building where Appellant loitered. In the January 19, 2018 track, Copper tracked down a path to a parking lot. It is certainly likely the person left in a car in the parking lot, and if this track is not evidence of Copper's

reliability, it certainly is not any evidence that he is not reliable.

How much demonstration is required for confirmation of a dog's reliability? In August 2017, the handler presented Copper a piece of person's clothing. Copper then tracked through woods, vehicles, a shed, towards a residence, and found the person. That is a remarkable event unless one takes a bloodhound's remarkable skill for granted.

In McCray v. State, 915 So.2d 239, 241 (Fla. Dist. C. App. 2005), Buddy, a canine, conducted twenty tracks, "some of which have resulted in apprehensions." "Within minutes of being taken to where the defendant was last seen, Buddy picked up his scent, grew excited, dragged Officer Baker with him as he tracked the scent which led him to the concrete enclosure where he stopped and began barking and trying to scale the wall when he located the object of the track." Id. The court noted, "the dog picked up the track immediately, the track was continuous, the dog located the defendant hiding in a concrete structure within five minutes of his disappearance, and this concrete structure was located near where the officer lost sight of him . . ."). Id. at 242. The reviewing court found ample evidence supported the reliability of the dog track.

(5)(6) Copper was placed on the trail a short time after the robbery and counsel agreed the trail was not contaminated.

Copper was placed soon after the robbery on the trail and trial counsel agreed there was no evidence it was contaminated. Appellant's appellate counsel argues otherwise on the latter point, but this point was conceded at trial. State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-16, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (explaining an issue conceded at trial cannot be argued on appeal). Appellant's argument that the trail was contaminated because a few individuals may have been within the perimeter is unsupported by citation. Considering the bloodhound is tracking from an item in the

robber's possession, and is trained to stay on the fresh scent of that person to the exclusion of all others, this case does not present a situation that one could say the trail was contaminated as a matter of law. Buck v. State, 138 P.2d 115, 121 (Okla. Crim. App. 1943) (noting the support found in caselaw establishing bloodhounds "will trail where many persons have been and other tracks made, but they will not leave the tracks of the party whose trail they are following."). This reality is likely why trial counsel conceded the point argued now by Appellant on appeal.

An appellate court is bound by the trial court's preliminary factual findings in determining the admissibility of certain evidence unless the findings are clearly erroneous, and its review extends only to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The trial court did not err because his ruling is supported by evidence.

Additionally, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). The robber lost his shoes and Appellant appeared in stocking feet at the convenience store with a story of the urgent need to dispose of a weapon "for a cousin" shortly after the robbery. His doo-rag was left outside the McDonald's restaurant, the DNA matched Appellant's DNA. Appellant was seen with Blue in black clothing close in time to the robbery by an officer. Even if the prosecution did not present evidence that Copper tracked to the building, Appellant was found in a place where he was not invited per Lesene.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the conviction and sentence.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.